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Raintiff,
-and-
MARK MILANO,
15 Civ. 3556 (AT) (OTW)
InterveningPlaintiff,
OPINION
AND JUDGMENT
-against-

EMMANUEL O. ASARE, M.D., and

SPRINGFIELD MEDICAL AESTHETIC P.C.
d/b/a ADVANCED COSMETIC SURGERY OF
NEW YORK,

Defendants.
ANALISA TORRES, Dstrict Judge:

On May 6, 2015, Plaintiff, the United StatesAsherica, brought tls enforcement action
under Title IIl of the Americasmwith Disabilities Act 0fL990 (the “ADA”), 42 U.S.C. §
12188(b)(1)(B)(i). SeeCompl., ECF No. 1. The Governmiealleges that Defendants,
Emmanuel O. Asare, M.D. and his former cesimsurgery practice&pringfield Medical
Aesthetic P.C. (“Advanced Cosmetic,” and cdilesly with Dr. Asare, “Defendants”), denied
cosmetic surgery services to individuals wdtkabilities, including HIV, in violation of the
ADA. See generally idOn February 10, 2016, Plaintiff-Intezmor, Mark Milano (together with
the Government, “Plaintiffs”), filed an intervencomplaint alleging thaDefendants denied him
cosmetic surgery services on the basis oHt&status in violatbn of the ADA and the New

York City Human Rights Law (“NYCHRL").SeeMilano Compl., ECF No. 31.
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The Court held a bench trial from ©©ber 15 to 17, 2018. ECF Nos. 189-191.
Following are the Court’s findingsf fact and conclusions ofdapursuant to Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 52(a).

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On July 15, 2014, Mark Milano filed a complaimith the Departmendf Justice alleging
that Defendants violatduls rights under the ADASeeCompl. § 29; Milano Compl. § 39. As a
result, the Government began investigafdejendants. Compl.  30. On May 6, 2015, the
Government initiated this aoth under the enforcement provisiasfshe ADA, which permit the
Attorney General to (1) file a civil action when tieshe “has reasonable cause to believe that . .
. [@] person or group of persons is engagedpateern or practice of sicrimination,” 42 U.S.C.

§ 12188(b)(1)(B), and (2) seek appropriate refietluding monetary damages to persons
aggrieved,’id. 8 12188(b)(2)(B)seeCompl. On December 11, 2015, Milano filed a motion to
intervene, ECF No. 17, which the Court geah ECF No. 30. During discovery, the
Government notified Defendantsits intention to seek damagyen behalf of two individuals,
J.G. and S.V.SeeSJ Opinion at 5, ECF No. 154.

In 2018, the parties filed cross-motions sommary judgment. ECF Nos. 87, 100.
Defendants conceded that when deciding whidthaccept a patiemtho requests cosmetic
surgery services, Defendants apply eligibilityemia that tend to screen out individuals living
with HIV. Defendants argued thtkteir policy was based on legitate concerns associated with
the interaction between antiretrovirals and theloimation of medications Dr. Asare used during
surgical procedures. SJ Opinion at 8-9e Tourt disagreed, holding that Defendants’ policy
ran afoul of the ADA, based on two forms o$climination: (1) “saeen out” discrimination,

because the undisputed evidence establishe@®#fahdants’ policy constituted an application
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of eligibility criteria that soeened out those with disabilities;en though there was no evidence
that the policy was necessary foe throvision of Defendants’ serviced, at 11-12; and (2)
“reasonable modification” distnination, as Defendants prided neither individualized
assessment of patients nor reasonalgldifications to accommodaindividuals taking
antiretroviral medications, such as hiringaaresthesiologist to supervise the surgeryat 11—

15. Moreover, because Defendants concededhegthad refused to operate on Milano after he
disclosed his HIV-positive status, based on thelicy, the Court held that Defendants violated
the ADA and NYCHRL.Id. at 8-9, 12, 16.

The Court, however, denied the Governrigentotion for summaryudgment as to J.G.
and S.V., concluding that what policy, if any, Dedants applied to them wa disputed issue of
material fact to be resolved at tridd. at 9. The Court also graad Defendants’ cross-motion
for summary judgment with respt to the Government’s ctaithat Defendants discriminate
against individuals with digdlities other than HIV.ld. at 17.

From October 15 to 17, 2018, the Court condiietdench trial on the following issues:
(1) Defendants’ liability undethe ADA with respect to J.G. and S.V., and any corresponding
claims for damages and injunctive relief, §8yMilano’s claim for compensatory damages
under the NYCHRL, as well as his clainr fojunctive relief under both the ADA and
NYCHRL. ECF Nos. 189-191,; Pr&tl Order at 2—-3, ECF No. 184; Milano Pretrial Order at 2—
3, ECF No. 186. At trial, the Government called J.G. and Saé&Trial Tr. 170:8-10, ECF No.
199; Trial Tr. 355:2—-7, ECF No. 201. iMno testified and called Lidaredrick as a witnessSee
id. at 170:2—7. Dr. Asare testifleon behalf oDefendants.See idat 355:8-9. In rebuttal, the
Government called its expert wiss, Charles Flexner, M.[5eeTrial Tr. 411:6-8, ECF No.

203.
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At trial, both parties offered withesses—IBtexner and Dr. Asar—not qualified to
speak to the standard of medicate in New York. ECF No. 235 a#l. After the close of trial,
the Court granted in part Defendants’ motiomstitke the testimony dbr. Flexner, striking
those portions that concerne@ tstandard of medical careNtew York and New York State
patient consent lawdd. at 13. The need to appoint a mal€ourt expert arose, therefore,
because of both parties’ failure to present adimisgvidence on issues that lie at the heart of
this case—that is, whether Dr. Asare treatedain patients in Ewful and medically
appropriate manneid. Having found that a neutral exparas necessary, the Court issued an
order on November 26, 2018, requiring the patbeshow cause why the Court should not
appoint an expert “to prepare a report, sitdf@eposition, and testify at trial concerning all
subjects raised in Dr. Flexrig testimony, pursuant to FedeRille of Evidence 706(a).” ECF
No. 206.

On January 18, 2019, Defendants filed a petittwra writ of mandamus with the Court
of Appeals, arguing that this Cdwvas “using its inherent powers agsist the Government in its
civil prosecution of . . . [D]efemds by appointing an expert witsgto testify in place of Dr.
Flexner.” Petition for Writ of Mandamus atl8,re Emmanuel O. Asar&lo. 19-187 (2d Cir.
Jan. 18, 2019). In February of 2019, this Cstayed the case pending the Second Circuit’s
decision on Defendants’ petition. ECF N221. On April 30, 2019, the Court of Appeals
denied Defendants’ request for a wrinedndamus, holding that Defendants “have not
demonstrated that they lack an adequate, atieenaeans of obtaining refighat their right to
the writ is clear and indisputable, or that granting thieisrappropriate under the
circumstances.In re Emmanuel O. Asarélo. 19-187 (2d Cir. Apr. 30, 201%ee alsEECF

No. 237.
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Defendants’ petition having been denied, ther€directed the parties to submit a joint
letter identifying their agreedpon expert. ECF No. 225. Uporview of the qualifications of
three proposed candidates, theu@ ordered that Timothy Wilki M.D., M.P.H., serve as the
neutral expert. ECF No. 229. After Dr. Wilkissued his repodn August 5, 2020, ECF No.
241, the parties deposed him and submittedidyp®sition testimony in lieu of live testimony,
along with certain objections from DefendanECF Nos. 241, 244, 251. The Court overruled
Defendants’ objections and adted Dr. Wilkin’s deposition agial testimony. ECF No. 246.
Post-trial briefing on Milano’s claims waatamitted in February of 2019, ECF Nos. 215-216,
222-223, and post-trial briefing on the Governmecitéms was completed in January of 2020,
ECF Nos. 252-255.

The Court credits the testany of J.G., S.V., Milano, Fredrick, and Dr. Wilkin. The
Court also credits those psuaf Dr. Flexner’s testimonghat were not strickenSeeECF No.

235 at 13. The Court rejects and does notitckeg portions of Dr. Asare’s testimony as
described below.

DISCUSSION

l. Legal Standard

To prevail on their claims, Plaintiffs mystove a violation of Tle Il of the ADA by a
preponderance of the evidencgee Krist v. Kolombos Rest. In688 F.3d 89, 96 (2d Cir. 2012)
(reviewing bench trial decision which considémwhether plaintiff had established an ADA
claim “by a preponderance of the evidenceé™he burden of showing something by a
preponderance of the evidence sim@guires the trier of fact toelieve that the existence of a
fact is more probablan its nonexistence Metro. Stevedore Co. v. Ramia®21 U.S. 121, 137

n.9 (1997) (internal quotation markstation, and alterationsmitted). As the finder of fact, the
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Court is entitled to miae credibility findings about the wiesses and testimony and to draw
reasonable inferences from the evidence prese®ed.Merck Eprova AG v. Gnosis S.p981
F. Supp. 2d 436, 448 (S.D.N.Y. 201ajf'd, 760 F.3d 247 (2d Cir. 2014).

. Findings of Fact

The Court’s core findings of ¢éhare as follows: (1) Defelants refused smetic surgery
services to three individual@) Defendants did so when thiegcame aware that each individual
was either living with HIV, potentially livig with HIV, or living with HIV and taking
antiretroviral drugs; (3) Defendartested individuals without thetonsent in order to ascertain
their HIV status; and (4) each individual suffemdotional distress asrasult of Defendants’
actions.

A. Overview

In 2014, Defendants operated a plastic syrgeaictice with offces in Manhattan and
Long Island, New York. Trial Tr. 215:1854:15-17, 365:13-366:13. Dr. Asare is the sole
owner and officer of Advanced Cosmetics, ansbiely responsible for all corporate policies and
decisions, including those pertainitoythe selection of patient$d. at 365:17-366:9. Dr. Asare
specialized in cosmetic surgery, including ggamastia surgery, the removal of fat deposits
from a man’s chestld. at 15:14-22; 295:12-15. In 2014, J.&YV., and Milano each sought
out Dr. Asare for the purpose wfdergoing reduction mammoplastig. at 20:14-20, 173:10—
24, 213:19-215:5.

B. J.G.

J.G. is a classically trained tenor whodyrated from two preemineachools of music.

He has performed in opera houses woitthwy Trial Tr. 130:8-17, 151:7-10. J.G. was

diagnosed with HIV in the spring of 2009, andyae taking antiretrovirahedication that same
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year. Id. at 130:18-19, 130:22-23, 133:2-4, 134:7-14. In 2D8Bl,;s CD4 count, which is a
measure of the immune system, was witlonmal range, and hi3IV viral load, which
identifies the measurable amount olHh one’s system, was undetectabld. at 135:1-136:1;
see alsawilkin Tr. 21:14-18, ECF No. 251.

Since adolescence, J.G. has dealt withf-s@hscious and shameful feelings about
having a little extra tissue” ihis chest. Trial Tr. 136:12—15¢e id.at 152:19-23. After
researching different plastic surgeons, &@htacted Defendants to schedule an initial
consultation at Advanced Cosneetwhich took place on April 2, 2014d. at 136:18-22,
137:17-24, 154:11-15.

At that visit, J.G. filled out paperworlkyhich included the question, “[d]o you have any
medical problems including thelfowing: . . . HIV or AIDS.” Id. at 138:18-139:8 (internal
guotation marks omitted). Although J.G. was livimigh HIV at the timehe marked “no” in
responseld. at 139:8-12. J.G. explained that “the thought of sharing [his] HIV status was
something that . . . encompasselot of conflict, a lot ofmotional stresand anxiety.”ld. at
139:14-16. J.G. had not disclosedHi¥-status to his own familySeed. at 132:10-17 (‘I
decided very shortly after | fourait about my status that myategy would be to have a very
close circle[] . . . my doctor, my best friend, atdhat point my boyfriesh. . . [a]Jnd | chose to
limit, you know, sharing my status just them and to not talky about it with anyone else.”);
see also idat 131:24-132:9.

After completing the forms on April 2, 2014, Ji@et with Dr. Asare fothe first time.
Id. at 141:18-21. Dr. Asare explained higigque for conducting seduction mammoplasty
and reviewed “before and aftgphotographs with J.Gld. at 141:22-142:3. J.G. then scheduled

the procedure for June 6, 2014 and paid an initial deploksiat 142:4-17. J.G. returned to Dr.
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Asare’s office on May 15, 2014, to pay the balance and to hawobid drawn for pre-surgical
testing. Id. at 142:20-143:3. Approximately one wdater, J.G. received a call from a
scheduling assistant requasfithat J.G. return to speak with Dr. Asalé. at 143:4-12.

A few days after that call, and about a wéekore his scheduled procedure, J.G. met
with the doctor who informed J.@at his blood work indicatethat he had HIV, “and that it
was [Dr. Asare’s] policy—his office’s policy—nabd perform procedures on people with HIV.”
Id. at 143:13-23see also idat 144:15-16. J.G. responded that(1) knew that he was living
with HIV, (2) was currently on antiretroviral mediions, (3) had an undstable viral load, and
(4) had a CD4 count in the normal rande. at 143:25-144:2, 144:7-10. According to J.G., Dr.
Asare claimed that “it’s really [his] nurseiavwould be freaked out. If they knew [J.G. was]
HIV-positive[,] they would be too afraid of working on someone with HIV for fear of getting
infected.” Id. at 144:2—6, 144:17-18. Prior to this corsation, J.G. was “completely unaware”
that Dr. Asare had tested his blood for HIM. at 144:21-24. Neitherehdoctor nor anyone in
his office had requested or received &@onsent to perform an HIV tedd. at 144:25-145:2.
Dr. Asare concluded the meeting teyling J.G. to speak with trecheduling assistant to discuss
arefund.Id. at 145:8-9.

Dr. Asare disputes J.G.’s recollection of thisetireg; in fact, he dess that this meeting
ever occurredld. at 332:6-13. Dr. Asare testified the would have performed the surgery on
J.G. once he was “cleared by his PCP or infectious disease guy,” because “he’s newly diagnosed
HIV.” 1d. at 332:6-333:1. The Court does not creditA¥are’s account of the facts for several
reasons. First, J.G. was not “newlyghased” with HIV, as Dr. Asare claimetd. at 332:23—
25. J.G. had been living with HIV, and takingiegtroviral drugs, sinc2009, and J.G. testified

that he informed Dr. Asare of his HIpGsitive status during their last meetirld. at 130:22-23,
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133:2-4, 134:7-14, 143:25-144:2, 144:7-10. Second, thatishawenotation of this meeting in
J.G.’s medical file does not peesde the Court that the mewginever took place because of
glaring shortcomings in Defendis’ medical recordkeeping-or example, although Dr. Asare
claims that he obtained consent for HIV tesfirmgn all patients, theris no documentation of
consent in any of Defendants’ recordee idat 351:7-352:5-6, 352:19-21, 358:23-359:3.
Nor does the doctor offer documentation indiagtivhether his employees actually reached out
to J.G. after the HIV test results came badeTrial Tr. 332:3-5. Third, although Dr. Asare
may have an incentive to lie, teame is not true for J.G. J.@stified in open court knowing
that if his HIV-positive status were to become public his career might be danidgeat!.
200:13-203:15. J.G. noted for instance that a staigetor may frown on J.G. kissing another
singer on stage, which would litrihe roles J.G. could playd. at 200: 19 —25. Lastly, as is
discussed below, J.G.’s conversation with Dr. Adsarstrikingly similarto those the doctor had
with S.V. and Milano. The Court, thereforegdits J.G.’s testimony concerning his interactions
with Dr. Asare over Dr. Asare’s account.

After his consultation with Dr. Asare, J.€ood on a street corner outside the doctor’s
office and called his boyfriend, which is when aliétemotions started flootj” and he felt like
he was “transported back to ttrmment where [he] found out tHak] had HIV . . . feelings of
guilt and shame and sadness and anger and ddspéings that [he] was not worthy of
someone’s treatment because of [his] statis.’at 145:20-146:9. J.G. “was consumed” with
these feelings for “several wegkand experienced an “enduring..overall feeling of distrust
toward anyone else, medical professlenar anyone knowing about [his] status,
because . . . [he] had just been treateal way [he] didn’t think was possibleld. at 146:10—

147:3. J.G. testified that Ke&elt humiliated” and “like a second class citizenld. at 146:12-15.
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He sought help from a therapiayd remains negatively affected thys experience to this day.
Id. at 114:10-15, 146:21-147:3.
C. S.v.

S.V. works as an underwriter of automotive loalts.at 212:21-24. He has two children
and was planning to get mieed in September 2014d. at 213:13, 217:3—-4. In advance of his
“location wedding on a beach in Florida,” S.V. decided to undergo gynecomastia surgery
because he was not happy with certain areas of his bddgt 214:3-8, 255:2-6. In May 2014,
after researching doctors, S.Vheduled an initial consultationitiv Dr. Asare at his Long Island
office. Id. at 214:9-21, 215:5-16.

Upon arrival, S.V. was askedfith out a number of formsld. at 216:1-10. S.V. suffers
from a condition known as neaphilic leukocytosis—abnormallhigh white blood cell count—
and in 2014, was under the regular cara bématologist, Steven Allen, M.Id. at 230:25—
231:11, 256:2-5. Neutrophilic leukocytesloes not have an effect 81V.’s day-to-day life and
he is not required ttake any medicationdd. at 231:10-19. When S.¥illed out the initial
paperwork, he did not disclose the illness becaiseondition was not responsive to any of the
guestions on the formgd. at 231:22—-24, 232:1-3. Nor had Dr. Allen advised S.V. that he
should make mention of his illnesefore undergoing surgerid. at 232:4-6.

On May 13, 2014, S.V. met with Dr. Asare foriaitial consult. Dr. Asare conducted a
physical examination and explaththe gynecomastia procedur@eePl. Ex. 2 at 1; Trial Tr.
311:2-312:15. A few days later, S.V. paid fae gurgery, and scheduladreoperative visit for
May 16, 2014.1d. at 219:15-220:1, 220:19-22; 267:20—4ePI. Ex. 2 at 10. On that day,
employees of Advanced Cosmetic performedEKI®, took vitals, and drew blood. Trial Tr.

220:23-221:9. Defendants did not seek S.®¥osent to conduct an HIV tedd. at 221:12-19.

10



Case 1:15-cv-03556-AT-OTW Document 258 Filed 08/05/20 Page 11 of 35

On the morning of May 21, 2014, the day of skegery, S.V. was driven by a car service
to Defendants’ facility in Comack, as recommended in Dr. Asar@ereoperative instructions.

Id. at 222:21-223:16; Pl. Ex. 2 Af. After arriving, S.V. put oa medical robe, and was taken
into the operating area where a nurse gavetWoror three lorazepam pills, a sedative. at
223:17-224:8.

Dr. Asare entered the room to mark thepaf S.V.’s body where the procedure would
be performed, and then injected S.V. watkyringe containing hydromorphone, another,
stronger sedativeld. at 224:20-225:4, 340:16-23. Feelingdir8.V. lay down, but was still
able to hear, see, and comprehend what was happening around hamn225:9-15. About five
minutes later, Dr. Asare re-eméd the room, and declared that the procedure was cancelled
because of the preoperative blood test residtsat 225:21-23, 340:24—-341:10. Dr. Asare
advised S.V. that testing indicdtéhat S.V. was HIV-positive. S.V. would later learn that he did
not have HIV.Id. at 225:24-25; 340:24-341:1€ke alsad. at 247:2-3.

Dr. Asare testified that although he had re\aev.V.’s test results the day before, he
had forgotten about them until after SWwas administered the sedative cocktéil. at 341:19—
343:1. Dr. Asare acknowledges that sedatingtieqtaunder such circumstances was a mistake.
Id. at 320:7-9. He testified thtte test results were “quitdonormal, with aery high white
blood cell count of 31,000,” and thaetkIV test was “inconclusive.ld. at 315:6-16. Dr.

Asare said he was concerned about S.V.’s tesiteebecause “[f]irst odll, a very elevated
white blood cell count could indieat more serious problem likeukemia, in which case you
cannot perform the surgery on the patient. §émwond thing is the HIgtatus, which he never

had a history of HIV. So if it turns out to pesitive, then it means it's a newly diagnosed HIV,

11
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in which case you have to hold the surgery, couthgepatient, evaluate the patient to determine
the stage of HIV disease the ati has before you go aheadd. at 316:4-14.

S.V. protested, insisting thaé could not be HIV-positive poisidering that his blood was
drawn regularly under the caretis hematologist, who has negven S.V. an HIV diagnosis.
Seed. at 226:2—-6. Dr. Asare reiterated, howevedaif the procedure was cancelled and directed
S.V. to go homeld. at 226:6-10, 343:2—4. Typically, wh&m. Asare performed a reduction
mammoplasty, the process from paegttion, to procedure, to disarge would take four hours.

Id. at 343:5-9. This includesnie for the patient to recover from surgery and for the sedative
cocktail to start to wear off. But Defendants dat afford S.V. the time needed for the sedative
to subside.ld. at 343:10-16. Instead, Defendants &kt home by car service in a sedated
state. See idat 226:11-14 , 228:14 -19, 343:5-9.

S.V. was still “really groggy,” “really tiré,” and felt “almost like [he was] walking
sideways to try to get to the front doodd. at 227:16—20. After finally getting inside, S.V.
crawled on all fours up the stairshis bedroom and lost consciousnekk.at 227:23-228:9.
He slept until 11 p.m. that nightd. at 228:10-13. S.V. was shocked, nervous, and scared about
the HIV diagnosis and begarnirtking about his childrenld. at 228:20-25. S.V. stayed up most
of that night, pacing, “trying to understand whappened” and what Dr. Asare had told hiich.
at 228:20-229:1, 229:10-14. S.V. was so diginathat he contemplated suicidel. at 233:6—
14.
Defendants did not call S.V. to cheok him after he left their officeld. at 239:6-7.

Instead, Dr. Asare testified thia¢ developed a plan whereBy/. would consult his primary

care physician and repeat the HIV test in eight weeks. Pl. Bre2alsdlrial Tr. 321:11-20.

12
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The procedure would be reschedblenly if the new test resslivere negative. Pl. Ex. &e
alsoTrial Tr. 321:11-20.

On May 22, 2014, S.V. contacted Advanced Cetstrhoping to “gesome information
about what happened,” but was toldttbr. Asare was not availabléd. at 230:18-24. After
leaving a message with Advanced Cosmadicat 230:23—-24, S.V. calldds hematologist, who
referred him to North Shore Hospital’'s InfectidDiseases Department for a more conclusive
HIV test. Id. at 232:9-17.

On May 23, 2014, S.V. met with Dr. Asare wéxplained that S.V.’s blood test had
come back HIV-positive. Dr. Asare claimedhaa to stop the procedure because “they weren't
outfitted at that facility to do #hsurgery on someone with HIVId. at 237:10-17, 238:11-14.
S.V. reported that he suffers fnoneutrophilic leukocytosis andahhis hematalgist thought the
test results could be a false positivd. at 238:15-23. S.V. insistéddat he could not be HIV-
positive, but Dr. Asare “clapped his hands and he said [S.V.] was HIV-positiveat 239:3-4;
see also idat 238:20-22 (“[Dr. Asare] weirito some detail . . . on hojthe test result] couldn’t
be a false positive.”). When S.V. asked whether it was legal or appropriate for Dr. Asare to not
perform procedures on individualsilig with HIV, the doctor assertdbat “he is able to say yes
or no [to any patient].”ld. at 239:17-18. Dr. Asare did not ask any questions about S.V.’s
condition or whether himok any medicationsld. at 240:5-10. By the end of the conversation,
S.V. understood that Dr. Asare would not perfahe reduction mammoplasty because Dr.
Asare believed that S.V. was HIV-positiviel. at 240:11-17.

After the meeting with Dr. Asare, S.V. nieto North Shore and was administered an
HIV test. Id. at 242:7-15, 244:10-17. On the following dprth Shore confirmed that he was

not HIV-positive. Id. at 247:2-3.

13
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D. Mark Milano

Milano works as an HIV educator, writendeditor at a research organization focused
on HIV/AIDS. Id. at 15-17. He was diagnosed wiKIDS in 1982, and began taking
antiretroviral drugs in 2007, lowing a cancer diagnosidd. at 14:8, 16:12—-13. Prior to 2007,
he had been a “long-term nonprogressaith a “healthy immune systemlId. at 16:9-13.
Starting in 2008, Milano began ddweging fat deposits in his chesg., gynecomastia, and
despite his efforts, had not been abladdress it through €l and exerciseld. at 16:19-17:15,
18:7-15. Milano’s cancer recurred in 2010, bu20i4, he received a clean PET scan after four
years without a recurrencéd. at 17:23-24, 17:24-18:5. In J@9Q14, Milano started exploring
the possibility of undergoing reduction mammgaya and scheduled an appointment with
Defendants.ld. at 18:13-19:12.

On July 14, 2014, Milano met with Dr. Asdog an initial consliation at Advanced
Cosmetic’s Manhattan officdd. at 19:18-19, 56:14-18, 62:23-25. Milano was asked to fill out
a medical history formld. at 20:4-6, 63:10-14. &herring to discuss kimedical history in
person with the doctor, Mifeo skipped those questiontsl. at 20:7-10, 63:15-64:2, 308:20-23.
Following Dr. Asare’s physicaxamination, Milano asked whethidlV medication that he had
taken in the past could have causedontributed to the gynecomastial. at 21:10-24.
According to Milano, Dr. Asare’s demeanor tHehanged significantly, and he got much more
abrupt, and . . . said, you didwheck HIV on your form, in kid of an accusatory wayId. at
21:24-22:2. Dr. Asare informed Mrla that “it is [Defendants’policy to neve perform any
procedures on any patients wiluman Immunodeficiency Virus.1d. at 22:9-17. After Milano
responded that such a policy is illegal, the dockaimed that it was higight as a doctor” to

turn away “any patients that [he] feel[s] aredieally inappropriate,” inluding those living with
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HIV. Id. at 24:10-12see alsd&J Opinion at 14 (“Defendants admit that Asare told Milano he
was not a suitable candidate for the gynecomastieedure as soon as Asare discovered that

Milano was taking antiretwiral medications, and without finer inquiry” “into the patient’s
medical history or medation regime.”).

Dr. Asare disputes Milano’s account of theiratieg. He claims thdie did not use the
term “human immunodeficiency virus” becadmehas difficulty pronouncing it. Trial Tr.
309:18-22. But Dr. Asare’s testimorsycontradicted by Milano’s dailed recollection of the
events, the testimony of J.@&, at 143:22-23, and S.\Md. at 225:21-25, and by Dr. Asare’s
own words in a December 10, 2014 letter to@Go¥ernment, which confirmed that it was
Defendants’ policy to not offesurgical services to patits with HIV, Pl. Ex. 4see alsdrial
Tr. 306:10-12. The existence of such a policy ithkr supported by the fatttat prior to July
2014, when Milano filed a complaint with the [tment of Justice, Dr. Asare had not
performed surgery on any HIV-positivedividuals. Trial Tr. 303:22—-304:16, 366:10-13
(admitted by Dr. Asare duringsitestimony and confirmed by hisunsel in response to Court’s
guestion seeking clarification on Dksare’s testimony). The Couwalso rejects as not credible
Dr. Asare’s assertion that heephysician who has practiced mgde in the United States for
twenty-eight years and who testified in prisnellifluous English, struggles to pronounce the
term “human immunodeficiency virusSee idat 289:10-12, 309:18-22.

Milano testified that being summarily rejecteyla doctor on the basis of his HIV status
was deeply traumatizingSee, e.gid. at 67:21-68:10. He explait¢hat he “look[s] to the
medical profession almost as a salve againsitigma that [he] face[sfom uninformed people,

and to meet a doctor who was so cold andrsnformed, and so sinissive, was really

shocking.” Id. at 31:4—7. “[T]here wasomething very different,” he added, “about a doctor
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saying | don’t want to touch you . . . saying essentially | don’t want you in my office because
you're dirty, because you're infectious, just go awalg’ at 26:10-15. For Milano, the feelings
he had in response to Dr. Asare’s actions weraparable to the momehe learned he had
cancer, “the sense of being differamd apart from everyone elsdd. at 105:4—7see also id.
at 25:16-17. “When you have HIV, and when'yegay, you get a lot akjection, a lot of
stigma,” Milano explainedld. at 29:2—-3. “[B]ut this incidet was very stigmatizing, and |
really felt like | was an awful geon that a doctor didn’t want to touch, so | was very hud.”
at 29:2-6.
For years after the incident, Milano experientemhtinuing levels ofinxiety . . . to the
point where [he] even had to take Xarssome point to dever the anxiety.”ld. at 69:23-25.
This anxiety “has been a contingitessor over the last four yeatss one more stress that has
been added to the many stresses thatffagjht over the las30 years . . . ."ld. at 98:10-13.
Milano explained precisely why this incidgmovoked such endumj mental anguish:
[I]t was the first time | experienced HIV discrimination from a provider, from
somebody that | thought I could trust, iisqualitatively diffeent type of stress
than I've ever experienced before, and it.adds an additional concern that this
may happen again that | never had before Dr. Asare. | never had a significant worry
before that | would be refused servidtecause of my HIV status, and now | do,
and that's something | never had bef@e Asare, and so that is a new and
distinctly different kind of stress &m | had before seting Dr. Asare.
Id. at 98:25-99:10.
In addition to the stress and anxiety aridirmgn his interaction with Dr. Asare, he has
suffered from persistent sleeplessndsgsat 39:22—-23see also idat 38:6—-14, 38:17-19. Lisa
Frederick, Milano’s supervisor and-egorker for the past sixteen yeaid, at 121:4, 121:8,

testified about the effect Milano’s experierveth Dr. Asare had on his work performance.

Prior to Dr. Asare’s rejection dflilano, he was “a really integrglart of [the] team” and the “go-
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to guy.” Id. at 123:14-5. Afterwards, Milano “just seemaaty lethargic, he was sad, he was
out of it. He was just not who we know. Weaesmall team, we work stose together, and we
just depended on him and he was just totally outtarid he just seemed me to be extremely
sad, depressed, and he didn’t look godd.’at 128:21-129:1. Milano’s work performance
declined by “[a]t least 50 percent or morigl’at 125:9-12, and this lasted for “several months,”
id. at 129:2—-4, 125:15-16. In an email to hikeagues on July 15, 2014, Milano wrote, “l was
amazed at how much that hurt emotionally angpslogically. Even after 25 years as an AIDS
activist it got to me. touldn’t sleep last night after actlyahaving a nightmare about himId.
at 32:2-5; PI. Ex. 1.

E. Defendants’ HIV Testing Regime

Defendants test every preopiera patient for HIV infedbn. Trial Tr. 350:7-18. Dr.
Asare claims that HIV testing ieecessary to determine whether a patient is an appropriate
candidate for surgeryld. at 366:22—367:1. The Court is pgasled by the expert testimony of
Dr. Flexner and Dr. Wilkin that sudksting is not medically necessary.

“Universal precautions”—the practicaad procedures used by all medical
professionals—involve assuming that digyat has an infe@us condition.ld. at 381:12-22;
Wilkin Tr. 31:4-19. Universal precautions, atkgbas common practiaser thirty years ago,
have made testing every patiéot HIV infection unnecessarySeeWilkin Tr. 18:9-19:22 (“I
don’t think that universal testirfgr HIV prior to elective surgergr minor elective surgeries is a
routine approach . . . [anfl]t is not necessary.”)d. at 31:20-25 (testifyig that universal
precautions have “been in place since th¥ efpidemic, so they began in the 80s8g also

Trial Tr. 383:5-23 (Dr. Flexner s$éfying that “[w]ith the advat of universal precautions
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... there was a turn away from this idea thargvody needed to be tested for HIV . . . prior to
going off for high risk surgery”).

Moreover, an otherwise healthy individual witbntrolled HIV, who is asymptomatic, is
as appropriate a candidate for cosmetic syrgerany other healthy person. Trial Tr. 389:11—
20; see alsad. at 399:3-10 (Dr. Flexner testifyingah“a patient who has a normal medical
history and a normal physicakam and normal blood work-ké kind of which Dr. Asare
performs—but is also HIV infected, | believe tipatient is at no greait risk of surgical
complications than a person who is HIV umictied with the same medical historyig); at
149:3-9 (J.G. testifying that lield a subsequent cosmesigrgeon, “by the way, I’'m HIV-
positive. Is that a problem? And he didn’t bat an eye.”).

Defendants test patients for HIV prior torfeeming surgery, evethough Dr. Asare is
familiar with universal precautionsSee idat 349:24-350:6. And although there may be
reasons to broadly test individedor HIV in a variety of seéings—for example, to connect
those individuals to additional cameeWilkin Tr. 19:25-20:15—th&ourt finds that the
manner in which Defendants used HIV testing shivat providing individuals with appropriate
care was not the purpose of such testing. Fstainte, Defendants never followed up with J.G.
after learning that he was HIV-positive, or witl. about his inconclusive HIV results. It was
only through S.V.’s repeated efforts that hesvahle to schedule a nieg with Dr. Asare to
discuss the resultsSeeTrial Tr. 230:18-24, 235:1-3, 237:10-14. This demonstrates that such
testing was solely for the purpogkdetermining a patient’s HIV-gtus, in order to deny medical
care to those who were HIV-positive.

The secretive manner in whi®efendants conducted HIVsting also contradicts Dr.

Asare’s “testing was necessary” explanatione @bctor acknowledged thiatorder to perform
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HIV testing on patients he was required totfoistain consent from them and document such
consent.ld. at 353:10-14see alsdVilkin Tr. 22:7-17. Defendast however, never obtained
consent from J.G. or S.\SeeTrial Tr. 351:8-353:1, 358:23—-359:%e idat 144:21-145:2,
221:12-19. Dr. Asare’s explanatifor his conduct is all the mne suspect when considering
that in failing to obtain consent, Dr. Asare vielathe standard of medical care in New York.
SeeWilkin Tr. 25:21-24 (“Dr. Asare was not withindlstandard of care within the way that he
conducted the HIV testing, meaning he conductedesting without notifyinghe patient.”).

Accordingly, the Court finds that testipgtients for HIV prior to surgery was not
medically necessary and rejects Bsare’s testimony to the contrary.

1. Conclusions of Law

A. Liability under Title 11l of the ADA

“The ADA was enacted to ‘provide a cleand comprehensive national mandate for the
elimination of disdmination againsindividuals with disabilities.” Henrietta D. v. Bloomberg
331 F.3d 261, 272 (2d Cir. 2003) (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 1210K#))alsai2 U.S.C. § 12182(a).
The statute states that “[n]o inglual shall be discriminated agaims the basis of disability in
the full and equal enjoyment tfe goods, services, facilitigarivileges, advantages, or
accommodations of any place of public accommodaby any person who owns . . . or operates
a place of public accommodation.” 42 U.S.C. § 124821V infection constutes a disability
under the ADA.Bragdon v. Abboft524 U.S. 624, 630-31 (1998).

Title 11l of the ADA defines dscrimination in several waysyo of which are relevant
here. First, discriminain is “the imposition or application efigibility criteria that screen out
or tend to screen out an individweth a disability or any class of individuals with disabilities

from fully and equally enjoying any goods, sees, facilities, privitgges, advantages, or
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accommodations, unless such criteria can be showe necessary for the provision of the
goods, services facilities, priefjes, advantages, or accommodations being offered.” 42 U.S.C.
§ 12182(b)(2)(A)(i). Second, discrination is “a failure to makeeasonable modifications in
policies, practices, or procedures, when sucHifitations are necessaty afford such goods,
services, facilities, privilegesdvantages, or accommodationgnaividuals with disabilities,
unless the entity can demonstrate that making swatifications would fundamentally alter the
nature of such goods, services, facilitiesvifgges, advantages, or accommodatiorig.”

§ 12182(b)(2)(A)(ii).

In its summary judgment opinion, the Coletid that Defendas’ policy of denying
services to individuals who are taking antiretralvdrugs violated Title IIl of the ADA. SJ
Opinion at 11-12, 14-15, 17. The Court, however, lcaied that the question of what policy, if
any, Defendants applied to J.G. and.Svas to be resolved at triald. at 9. The Court now
concludes that Defendants applied the policgeafying services to indiduals who are living
with HIV and taking antiretroviral drugs to J.G., and a broader policy of denying services to
anyone living with—or who Defendanbelieved to be living with HIV—to both J.G. and S.V.,
in violation of the ADA.

I.  Individuals Living With HIV and Taking Antiretroviral Drugs

“The law of the case doctrine commands thilaén a court has ruled on an issue, that
decision should generally be adhered to by ¢batt in subsequent stages in the same case
unless cogent and compellingas®ns militate otherwise.Johnson v. Holderb64 F.3d 95, 99
(2d Cir. 2009) (internal quoian marks and citation omitted). The Court’s holding that

Defendants’ policy of denying services to individuals who are HIV-positive and taking
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antiretroviral drugs constituted “screen odiScrimination and “reasable modification”
discrimination is the law of the cas8eeSJ Opinion at 11-12, 14-15.

With respect to J.G., the rechbestablishes by a preponderamt evidence that in 2014,
he was living with HIV andaking antiretroviral medicaties. Trial Tr. 130:22-23, 133:2-3,
134:7-14, 135:1-136:1. Although it wasdieally unnecessary to do so, Dr. Asare performed
preoperative HIV testing without J.G.’s conse8teWilkin Tr. 18:9-22, 19:20-22 (Dr. Wilkin
discussing how universal precautsohave made preoperativetieg unnecessary); Trial. Tr. at
383:5-23 (Dr. Flexner stating the sansse alsad. at 144:25-145:2.

In a May 29, 2014 meeting at Dr. Asare’s offidght after J.G. diclosed that he had
HIV and was taking antiretrinal medications, Dr. Asareancelled J.G.’s surgeryd. at
143:25-144:10. The sequence of events makes ittbl@Dr. Asare called off J.G.’s reduction
mammoplasty because he was HIV-positive andrdimetroviral medication. But there is even
more direct evidence: duringein meeting, Dr. Asare told J.@at it was Defendants’ policy
“not to perform procedures on people with HIMd. at 143:18-23.

Accordingly, the Court holds that the Goverent has proven, by a preponderance of the
evidence, that Dr. Asare viott the ADA by applying a policy afenying service to individuals
who are HIV-positive and takingntiretroviral medication.

ii.  Individuals Living With or Beliged to be Living With HIV

Dr. Asare’s policy of denying cosmeticrgery services, however, extended beyond
individuals living with HIV and taking antiretronal drugs. The testimony of J.G., S.V., and
Milano, along with Dr. Asare’s own writings dmotations prove, by a preponderance of the
evidence, that it was Defendants’ policyréduse care to any inddual living with, or

potentially living with, HIV, regardless dhe medications that person was takisgeTrial Tr.
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20:7-25:6, 143:20-144:20, 238:11-239:21; PI. Ex. 4 at. ExPI2 at 2. As Dr. Asare told J.G.,

“it was his policy—his office’golicy—not to perform procedures people with HIV.” Trial

Tr. 143:18-235see alsad. at 22:9-17 (Milano testifying, “[DrAsare] turned to me, and he

spoke to me in a very formalitfelt like almost kind of a redarsed way. He said, Mr. Milano—

and | want to let you know these words are burned into my head, because | can hear him saying
them as | say it to you. He said, Mr. Milanhlould inform you that is our policy to never

perform any procedures on patients with the Hummamunodeficiency Virus. And | remember
noticing he didn’t say HIV, he actually veryrfoally said ‘with the Human Immunodeficiency
Virus.”).

The mechanism for implementing this bdea“screen out” policy was Defendants’
practice of testing every mperative patient for HIV Seed. at 350:7-18. Defendants tested
both J.G. and S.V., without their consent, and then used the results, which were positive in the
case of J.G. and inconclusive in the case ¥¢f, &s justification for denying them cosmetic
surgery servicesSeed. at 350:7-351:10 (Dr. Asare explainitigat it was his practice to order
an HIV test for every surgical patienit), at 144:25-145:2 (no consentgerform test on J.G.),
221:12-19 (or S.V.). This practice constitutesgal “screen out” discrimination because it
imposes an eligibility criterion faa service that screens out indivals who are or may be living
with HIV, a disability. See42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(2)(A)(i).

A policy or practice that seens out individuals may not kescriminatory where “such
criteria can be shown to be necessaig.” Although the Second Cirduias not yet defined the
“necessary” defense in 8§ 12182(b)(2)(A)(i), otbecuit courts have found that eligibility
criteria can be considered “necessary’ewlhey are imposed to ensure safBgyer v.

Muscular Dystrophy Ass;i27 F.3d 1326, 1331-32 (10th Cir. 2005) (affirming the district
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court’s finding that a samer camp’s requirement that volunteleesable to lift and care for a
camper was necessary for théesaperation of the campJheriault v. Flynn 162 F.3d 46, 50

(1st Cir. 1998) (holding that was permissible faa licensing officer t@equire an individual

with an apparent lack of hand caritto take a road test prior tenewing his license to operate a
vehicle equipped with hand controls because “tfetgaf the public at laye is implicated”), or

to achieve the essential pose of the services offerdeasley by Easley v. Snide&6 F.3d 297,
304 (3d Cir. 1994) (holding that mtal alertness was necessary#sticipate in an attendant
care program whose essential purposs twahelp the physically disabled).

Although Dr. Asare contends that testing is necessary to assess whether potential patients

are healthy candidates for surgery, Trial Tr.:286367:1, the expert téstony of Dr. Flexner,
id. at 383:5-23, and Dr. Wilkin, Wilkin Tr. 18:9-22 gwes that this is false. They established
that the advent of universptecautions has made preoperative testing unnecessary, Trial Tr.
384:2-385:3; Wilkin Tr. 314-32:9, and that an otheewisalthy individual with controlled HIV,
who is asymptomatic, is as appriate a candidate for cosmetic surgery as any other healthy
person.ld. at 389:11-20see alsad. at 399:3-10.

The trial testimony and documentary evidens® aontradicts Dr. Asare’s assertions.
Indeed, the record establishes, by a preponderribe evidence, that Defendants’ preoperative
HIV testing served only to (dglentify individuals with HIVwithout providing meaningful
information about the state ofpatient’s health, and (2) refuservices, or “screen out,” those
individuals. The evidence makes clear thatds a patient’s HIV stas, and not some other
factor, that led to Defendants’mial of cosmetic surgery serviceBr. Asare testified that when
a patient is newly diagnosed with HIV, a doctbould “[delay] the surggr counsel the patient,

evaluate the patient to determithe stage of HIV disease thdipat has before you go ahead.”
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Id. at 316:4—14. But Dr. Asare took none of thospst He did not “counsel” or “evaluate” J.G.
or S.V. He did not follow up with either tiem to “determine the stage of HIV” before
proceeding to reschedule the surgery. RaiberAsare’s treating relationship with J.G. and
S.V. ended the moment he found out that theye, or could have been, HIV-positive.
Moreover, Dr. Asare’s medical notesake it clear that he would grireat S.V. if the follow up
test concluded that S.V. wadlV negative. Pl. Ex. Zee alsolrial Tr. 321:11-20. Such a
practice, which unnecessarily screémdividuals on the basis of ggible HIV statusviolates the
ADA.

Accordingly, the Court finds that Defendangslicy of screeningut individuals living
with HIV through preoperative testing was appliedoth J.G. and S.V., and runs afoul of the
ADA.!

B. Damages, Penalties, and Other Relief

Upon a showing of liability in a civil actiobrought pursuant to Title 11l of the ADA, the
Court may (1) grant “any equitable relief the daxonsiders appropriate,” (2) award “monetary
damages to persons aggrieved when requéstetthe Government, and (3) assess “civil
penalt[ies] in an amount not exceedid$,000] for a first violation.” 42 U.S.C
§ 12188(b)(2)(A)—(C); 28 C.F.R. 8 36.504(a){B)(The Government seeks compensatory
damages for J.G. and S.V.’s emotional disteesgtered as a result of being subjected to
Defendants’ discriminatory pigies, civil penalties of up to $75,000 per defendant, and
injunctive relief requring Defendants to institute ADA-comphapolicies. Gov't Post-Trial Br.

at 24, ECF No. 252.

1 This is true despite the fact thavSwas not, in fact, living with HIV beause Dr. Asare believed that S.V. was
HIV-positive when he cancelled S.V.’s pexure, and cancelled it for that reason.
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Milano also seeks compensatory damages for emotionalsdistneler the NYCHRL.
Milano Post-Trial Br. at 15, ECF No. 21gee alsduarte v. St. Barnabas Hosf341 F. Supp.
3d 306, 319 (S.D.N.Y. 2018) (“A plaintiff who praNs on a claim of discrimination under the
[NYCHRL] may recover compengay damages for emotionalipasuffering, inconvenience,
mental anguish, loss of enjoyment of lifadeother nonpecuniary losse@nternal quotation
marks and citation omitted)).

The relationship between federal law dahe NYCHRL is a “one-way ratchet.loeffler
v. Staten Island Univ. Hos®82 F.3d 268, 278 (2d Cir. 2009).ntérpretations of New York
state or federal statutes withmilar wording may be used &d in interpretation of [the
NYCHRL], viewing similarly wordedprovisions of federal and stativil rights laws as a floor
below which the City’s Human Rights law cannot falld. (quoting Local Civil Rights
Restoration Act of 2005 § 1, N.€. Local Law No. 85 (2005)). As a floor, therefore, any
violation of the ADA is automatally a violation of the NYCHRL.Likewise, federal or state
emotional distress damage awairdsomparable discrimination asmust be viewed as a floor
below which awards under the NYCHRL “cannot falSeelLocal Civil Rights Restoration Act
of 2005 § 1.

i.  Compensatory Damages

“In this circuit, emotional distress awardsn generally be groupéato three categories
of claims: garden-variety, significant, and egregiouBuarte, 341 F. Supp. 3d at 319 (internal
guotation marks, alterations, acithtion omitted). “For ‘gardevariety’ emotional distress
claims, the evidence of mental srihg is generally limited to ghtestimony of the plaintiff, who
describes his or her injury in gae or conclusory terms, withorglating eithethe severity or

consequences of the injuryld. (internal quotation marks, afegions, and citations omitted).

25



Case 1:15-cv-03556-AT-OTW Document 258 Filed 08/05/20 Page 26 of 35

“Such claims typically lack extraordinary ainmstances and are natpported by any medical
corroboration.” Id. (internal quotation marks and citation omittéd)Garden variety emotional
distress claims generally merit $30,000.00 to $125,000.00 awddigihternal qutation marks
and citation omitted)see alsd-ore v. City of Syracus&70 F.3d 127, 177 (2d Cir. 2012)
(affirming $150,000 award for emotial distress based on plaifisfand her motar’s testimony
describing plaintiff's suffering,rad observing that the Secondeiit has “affirmed awards of
$125,000 each to plaintiffs for emotional distressulting from age dcrimination where the
evidence of emotional distress consisted aifltestimony establishing shock, nightmares,
sleeplessness, humailion, and other subjectwvdistress” (internal quotation marks and citation
omitted)). “Emotional distresgsamages are available even wehthre plaintiffnas not sought
medical treatment or thdistress does not manifest in physical symptongaber v. N.Y. State
Dep'’t of Fin. Servs.No. 15 Civ. 5944, 2018 WL 3491695, at *12 (S.D.N.Y. 20y 2018).
Although no medical testimony was offeredctmroborate J.G., S.V., or Milano’s
experiences, the testimony in this case, whidhilbel the severe pslyological and emotional
consequences of Defendants’ actions, estalsligied they are entitlieto the higher end of
“garden-variety emotioadistress damagesSee, e.gLewis v. Am. Sugar Ref., In825 F.
Supp. 3d 321, 367-68 (S.D.N.Y. 2018){iting jury award to $115,000 for “garden-variety”
emotional distressBaber 2018 WL 3491695, at *13 (remitiy) award to $125,000 based on
plaintiff's testimony);Campbell v. Celico P’shjgNo. 10 Civ. 9168, 2012 WL 3240223, at *4

(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 6, 2012) (samélyatson v. E.S. Sutton, Indlo. 02 Civ. 2739, 2005 WL

2 “[S]ignificant’ emotional distress claims are based on more substantial harm or more offensiwet,cmedu
sometimes supported by medical testimony and evideniceree of treatment by ahlthcare professional and/or
medication, and testimony from otheorroborating withessesDuarte, 341 F. Supp. 3d at 320 (internal quotation
marks and citation omitted). “[E]gregious’ emotional tists claims generally involve either ‘outrageous or
shocking’ discriminatory conduct or a significantpatt on the physical higa of the plaintiff.” 1d. (citation

omitted).
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2170659, *16 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 6, 2005) (remittengard to $120,000 based on plaintiff's
testimony).
1. J.G.

At trial, J.G. testified in detail as todlemotional distress he suffered as a result of
Defendants’ actions. In May 2014, J.G. “hathbBshed a way to cope with living with
HIV . . . [he] felt empowered” and “in controf [his] HIV.” Trial Tr. 136:2—10. But these
feelings of empowerment did nptevent the shock and humiliation J.G. felt when Defendants
cancelled his surgery because of his HIV status.

J.G. was “stunned” when Dr. Asare cancelled the procedure because of his HIV
diagnosis.ld. at 145:22—-23. He tried “to keep everyitniemotionally together” until he got out
of the office. Id. As he left Defendants’ office, heglt humiliated” and “like a second class
citizen.” Id. at 146:14-15. Once outside, he callesidoyfriend to tell him what had happened,
at which point “the emains started flooding.ld. at 145:25-146:5. J.G. was “transported back
to the moment when [he] found out [he] had HIV. at 146:5-6.

J.G. explained that when he was first diagnosed with HIV, he “[took] on what society
tells you about [HIV-positive] people . . . thaky’re promiscuous, that they’re dirty, [that]
they’re deviants.”ld. at 147:25-148:1. J.G. had workeddto overcome those feelingkl. at
148:3—-4. But when Dr. Asare declined to tre@t lhecause of his HIgtatus, salt was poured
into old wounds and J.G. began to re-experieneethotional pain he felt when he first learned
he was HIV positive. He experienced the saneérfgs of guilt; feeling “guilty that [he] had
somehow been careless and let this happehsad for letting [his] family down, letting

everyone [he] knew down.Id. at 146:15-18.
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J.G. testified that Dr. Asargcallousness and lack of preggonalism transformed J.G.’s
feeling of empowerment into éelings of guilt and shame asddness and anger and despair,
and feelings that [he] was not worthy ofseone’s treatment because of [his] statud.”at
146:7-9. “[A]ll of the work [he] had done for thogears just personally all unraveled in a short
period of time after meeting wifbr. Asare because . . . someon& joroved to [him] that [he is]
a second class citizen [and]..not worthy of being treatl like a normal person.ld. at 148:4—

9.

For the next several weeks, J.G. “wassumed and overwhelmed by these feelings of
shame.”ld. at 146:12-13. He sought they “to cope with the féimgs of shame and guilt”
because they “were so overwhelmindd: at 147:20-22. J.G. saw aditsed therapist for seven
to ten sessions from the summeR6fl4 into the winter of b to address those issuéd. at
191:15-192:2.

In light of the detailed evidence presented, illustrating the severe emotional distress
endured by J.G. over a period of years, andrgasurveyed the emotional distress awards in
comparable cases, the Court finds that compemsia the higher end dhe range for “garden-
variety” claims is appropriate.

Accordingly, the Court findghat J.G.’s traumatic expences, resulting in significant
feelings of humiliation, shock, and worthlesssiewarrant an emotiohdistress award of
$125,000.See, e.gPatterson v. Balsami¢cd40 F.3d 104, 120 (2d Cir. 2006) (sustaining the
jury’s $100,000 compensatory damages award where “theifflafféred testimony of his
humiliation, embarrassment, ang$oof self-confidence, as Was testimony relating to his

sleeplessness, headaches, [and] stomach pduosg);670 F.3d at 177.

3 The Court’s use of the legal term “garden-variety” does not diminish the Caathusion that J.G., S.V., and
Milano suffered severe psychological distresa assult of Defendants’ discriminatory treatment.
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2. S.\V.

S.V. also experienced severe emotionakésst as a result ofinteractions with
Defendants. Defendants tested S.V. for HIV étifen without hisprior knowledge or consent.
Trial Tr. 221:12-19. After administering a sedatbeektail, Dr. Asare erroneously informed
S.V. that he was HIV-positive and cancelled the procedadreat 341:19-343:1. Before the
sedatives had worn off, Defendants sent S.V.ébgncar service, where he had to crawl on all
fours up the stairs to get to his bedroodiah. at 227:23—-228:9.

S.V. lost consciousness once he made it to his liedWhen he awoke, his mind was
racing with fear of the consequmass that such a diagnosis coblze on his life and his family.
See idat 228:21-25 (“[It] was hitting me that | wasst told that I'm HIV-positive. And | was
shocked, | was nervous, | was scared, | was thinkiomut my children.”). S.V. worried that he
would become a burden on his children, laradrthe thought of theseeing him sick, and
feared that their roles would be reversed, \8itYi. becoming the one in need rather than the
caretaker.ld. at 233:6-11. S.V. was so distresigat he contemplated suicidil. at 233:9-14,
274:6-8.

From the moment on May 21, 2014, when Dr. &daitd S.V. that he was HIV-positive,
until May 24, 2014, when S.V. received the news, from a different source, that he did not have
HIV, he endured a psychologically painful state of uncertainty. Regeilrinitial news from
Dr. Asare was “a shocking blowId. at 226:18. S.V. was nervoaad scared when he went to
North Shore for a second HIV tedt. at 242:2-3. When he sawethealth care providers at
North Shore, he broke down in tears, and hdsketoomforted by a physicis assistant that S.V.

had never met befordd. at 243:2—6.
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The lasting impact of this experience canm®idoubted; to this day, S.V. continues to
carry around the North Shore test results, @srander that he is ndiving with HIV. Id. at
250:25-251:6. The evidence presented, and releaaetlaw, supports tleenclusion that an
award at the higher end ofetiange for “garden-variet§tlaims is appropriate to compensate
S.V. for the emotional distress he endured.

Accordingly, the Court finds that S.V.’s tn@atic experiences, resig in his continuing
feelings of shock, fear, nervauesss, and suicidal thoughts, waatran emotional distress award
of $125,000.

3. Mark Milano

Milano’s emotional distress claim also satisfiles standard for an award at the highest
end of “garden-variety’claims. He testified that beingramarily and discriminatorily rejected
by a doctor, on the basis of his Hétatus, was deeply traumatizing§ee, e.g.Trial Tr. 67:21—
68:10;id. at 31:4—7 (“I look to the meditprofession almost as a salagainst the stigma that |
face from uninformed people, and to meet a dowtw was so cold and so uninformed, and so
dismissive, was really shocking. . at 26:10-15 (“[T]here was sonméng very different about
a doctor saying | don’'t want to touch you . .yieg essentially | don’t want you in my office
because you're dirty, because youméectious, just go away.”)d. at 29:2—6 (When you have
HIV, and when you're gay, you get a lot of rejeatia lot of stigma . . . but this incident was
very stigmatizing, and | really felike | was an awful person thatdoctor didn’t want to touch,
so | was very hurt.”).

Milano described this experie@a as a “punch in the guth experience that took his

breath away.ld. at 23:4-5. He likened the pain t@tfeeling he had when he was diagnosed

4 Seenote 3.
5 d.
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with cancer.ld. at 105:4-7 (“That feelingvas the same that moment | got cancer and the
moment that | was rejected by Dr. Asare, thesseof being differerand apart from everyone
else.”).

Milano also provided substantial evidenceha consequences, and the duration, of his
emotional distress, testifyingah“the—anxiety and the—recurrefeelings of being dirty and
unclean, those persisted veryosigly for a long time afterwards.Id. at 69:13-15. He has
suffered from continuing anxiety fgears since the incident, anxi¢hat at times was so severe
that he would take Xanax to coplel. at 69:23-25, 70:20-71:2. In atidn, and related to, this
stress and anxiety, Milano has experienced pensisteeplessness due to this incident. He had
“difficult[y] falling asleep, difficulty stayingasleep for a number of months thereaftdd. at
39:13-23.

Frederick, Milano’s colleague and suyisor, corroborated Milano’s testimony
concerning the scope and duration of his emotidisaitess. She testified that Milano’s work
performance declined by “[a]t least 50 percent or made 4t 125:9-12, and that this lasted for
“several months.”ld. at 129:2—6accord id.at 125:14-20. Frederickased that Milano “was
just totally out of it and he just seemedwextremely sad, depredsas a result of his
experience.ld. at 128:21-129:1. Based on the evidgmasented by Milano and Frederick, and
the relevant case law, this Court holds t@nhpensation at the higher end of the range for
“garden-variety® claims is appropriate to competesMilano for his emational suffering.

Accordingly, the Court finds that Milan®'experiences, resulting in anxiety, stress,
sleeplessness, and feelings ajrsia and humiliation, warrant award of emotional distress of

$125,000.

6 1d.
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ii.  Civil Penalties

The ADA permits the Court to ingse a civil penalty “to vindette the public interest.”
42 U.S.C. § 12188(b)(2)(C). The Court may seil penalties of up to $75,000 per defendant.
Id.; 28 C.F.R. § 36.504(a)(3)(i). An “important chagatstic” of civil pendties is to penalize
wrongdoing. Tull v. United States#81 U.S. 412, 423 n.7 (1988ge also United States v.
Balistrieri, 981 F.2d 916, 936 (7th Cir. 1992) (holding in the context of the Fair Housing Act,
which has the same relevant gtaty language as the ADA, that “civil penalties . . . serve ... a
purpose: to punish wrongdoing”).

At the summary judgment stagbe Court held that Defendts failed to perform an
individualized inquiry regardinthe suitability of Milano for surgry in light of his HIV-positive
status and taking of antiretrovirdrugs. SJ Opinion at 12. t#&f trial, the Court found that
Defendants did not conduct an individualized ingwith respect to both J.G. and S.V., and
instead, secretly performed HIV testing on tharorder to screen them out. Such conduct
violated the standard of cdi@ medical professionals in MeYork. Wilkin Tr. 25:21-24.

The type of individualizedrad objective inquiry that was abgenere is compelled by the
ADA. See Bragdonb24 U.S. at 649 (“As a health caref@ssional, petitioner had the duty to
assess the risk of infection bdsan the objective, scientificfiormation available to him and
others in his professiorHis belief that a significant riséxisted, even if maintained in good
faith, would not relieve him frorhiability.”). An individualized and objeiwve inquiry is also
central to a physician’s respaidities to her patientsSeeDoe v. Deer Mountain Day Camp,
Inc., 682 F. Supp. 2d 324, 348 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (“A healthfessional haa duty to assess the
risk of [HIV] infection basean the objective, scientific infmation available to her, and,

accordingly, her belief that a significant riskisted, even if maintagd in good faith, will not
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relieve [defendant] of liabily [under the ADA].” (internabjuotation marksgitation, and
alterations omitted)).

Defendants’ disregard of their duty to obttie necessary consent from patients before
administering HIV tests is equally troublin@.onducting individualizethquiries and obtaining
consent before performing teste at the core of what peemxpect from their physicians.
Defendants failed to meet thoskligations here. And as Mi@ explained in his testimony, the
discrimination at issue in this case is all there painful because it was inflicted by a doctor—a
person whom a patient is supposed to be altieisb—and, of course,@erson who has taken an
oath to do no harmSee idat 98:25-99:10.

Defendants argue that imposing a civil penalbuld not be appropriate because there
was no “intentional discrimination or malicioosnduct by Defendants.” Def. Reply at 6, ECF
No. 255. Even assuming that Defendants’aasiwere not intentional, the ADA’s prohibition
against discrimination applies to “action tkatries a discriminatory effect, regardless
of . . . motive or intent.”"Henrietta D. v. Giuliani119 F. Supp. 2d 181, 206 (E.D.N.Y. 2000),
aff'd sub nomHenrietta D. v. Bloomberdg31 F.3d 261 (2d Cir. 2003ee alsdH.R. Rep. No.
101-485(1l), at 29 (1990), reprinted in 1990 WC£.A.N. 303, 310 (“Dscrimination against
people with disabilities results froactions or inactions that drsminate by effect as well as by
intent or design.”). Indeed, the applicablgukations state that Defendants cannot avoid civil
penalties “simply by showing that [they] did maillfully, intentionally, or recklessly disregard
the law.” 28 C.F.R. Pt. 26, App’x C, Subpt. E.

Other courts have imposed civil pengidtifor ADA violations ranging from $10,000 to
$50,000. SeeDevinney v. Me. Med. CiiNo. 97 Civ. 276, 1998 WL 271495, at *15 (D. Me.

May 18, 1998) (hospital agreed to pay a $10,000 pamalty for failing to provide auxiliary
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aides and services to deaf patienth)ited States v. AMC Entm't, Indo. 99 Civ. 1034, 2006
WL 224178, at *24 (C.D. Cal. Jan. 10, 2006) (imposing a $50,000 civiltperadefendant for
failing to provide ADA compliant seatirg@t movie theaters across the country).

Accordingly, the Court findghat civil penalties are wamged to “vindicate the public
interest.” 42 U.S.C. § 12188(b)(2)(C). Givimat Defendants operate a small medical practice,
seeTrial Tr. 215:16, 254:15-17, 365:13-366:13, andghtliof the compensatory damages
awarded to J.G., S.V., and Milano, the Gamposes a civil penalty of $15,000 ($5,000 per
victim), payable to the United States.

iii.  Injunctive Relief

The ADA empowers the Court to grant “aeguitable relief the court considers
appropriate, including . . . peanent relief.” 42 U.S.C. § 188(b)(2)(A). Plaintiffs have
established that Defendants emppolicies and practices that stlbe enjoined. Accordingly,
Defendants are ENJOINED from: (1) performidty/ testing on every patient as a routine
practice, and (2) conducting HIV testing on antigya without the patient’s express consent;
and ORDERED to institute, and conduct thregdical practice in acedance with, written
policies ensuring ADA compliance in the patiéntake and screening process.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons statebowe, the Court holds thateltsovernment has proven, by a
preponderance of the evidencettbefendants violated the ADA.

Accordingly, it is ORDERED that:

1. Defendants must pay compensatoryndges in the amount of $125,000 to J.G.
and S.V. under the ADA, and to Milano under the NYCHRL,;

2. Defendants must pay to the Governmegtvil penalty inthe amount of $15,000;
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3. Defendants are enjoined from (a) testingrgyatient to determine whether they
have HIV, and (b) conducting HIV testimgthout patients’ gpress consent; and

4. Defendants are required to institute athere to written policies regarding ADA
compliance in the patient irka and screening process.

The Court retains jurisdiction to monitor Dafiants’ compliance with the terms of this
order. The Clerk of Court is ordered to entelgment against Defendants in accordance with
this order and to close the case.

SO ORDERED.

Dated: August 5, 2020

New York, New York %,_

ANALISA TORRES
United States District Judge
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